

Tetrahedron 58 (2002) 9477-9504

TETRAHEDRON

Tetrahedron report number 624

Tandem cyclization–cycloaddition reactions of rhodium generated carbenoids from α -diazo carbonyl compounds

Goverdhan Mehta^{a,*} and Sengodagounder Muthusamy^{$b,*,\dagger$}

^aDepartment of Organic Chemistry, Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore 500 012, India ^bCentral Salt and Marine Chemicals Research Institute, Bhavnagar 364 002, India

Received 16 September 2002

Contents

1.	Introduction	9477
	1.1. Scope and organization of the review	9478
2.	Intramolecular five-membered ring carbonyl ylides	9478
	2.1. With keto carbonyl groups	9479
	2.2. With ester carbonyl groups	9484
	2.3. With amide carbonyl groups (isomünchnones)	9485
	2.3.1. Intermolecular isomünchnone cycloadditions	9485
	2.3.1.1. Applications in asymmetric synthesis	9487
	2.3.2. Intramolecular isomünchnone cycloadditions	9489
3.	Intramolecular six-membered ring carbonyl ylides	9492
	3.1. With keto carbonyl groups	9492
	3.1.1. Applications in asymmetric synthesis	9495
	3.2. With ester carbonyl groups	9496
	3.2.1. Applications in asymmetric synthesis	9497
	3.3. With amide carbonyl groups	9498
4.	Intramolecular seven-membered ring carbonyl ylides	9498
	4.1. With keto carbonyl groups	9498
	4.2. With amide carbonyl groups	9499
5.	Intermolecular carbonyl ylides	9499
6.	Concluding remarks	9500

1. Introduction

The rapid generation of molecular complexity, in a controlled and predictable manner, is a contemporary theme in the practice of modern organic synthesis and finds application in accessing newer entities for the pharmaceutical industry. Efficiency, atom economy, regio-, stereo- and enantiocontrol, ready availability of starting materials and environmentally benign processing are some of the common concerns in any synthetic endeavor. Synthetic brevity is, however, central to the generation of molecular complexity in a resource-effective manner and, in

order to attain that objective, two strategic options have been generally explored in recent years, one involving multicomponent reactions and the other involving reactions leading to multiple carbon-carbon bond formation through tandem processes. The latter approach involves recourse to reactions like multiple cycloadditions or cyclization– cycloaddition sequences in which many bonds are formed in a single mode operation and these cascade processes have an inherent advantage in expeditiously assembling polycyclic structures with proper stereochemical control.

Tandem processes^{1–7} of a diverse nature, promoted through thermal or photochemical activation or catalysts, have already proven their utility in organic synthesis and found many applications in the acquisition of complexity in the form of functionalized carbo- and heteropolycyclic structures. Cascade reactions involving transition-metal catalysts

Keywords: carbonyl ylides; cyclization; cycloaddition; diazo carbonyl compounds; polycyclic systems; rhodium(II) acetate.

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +91-80-360-2367; fax: +91-80-360-0936; e-mail: gm@orgchem.iisc.ernet.in; salt@csir.res.in

[†] Tel.: +91-278-567-760; fax: +91-278-567-572.

in particular have gained significant importance in recent years.^{8–11} Among these, the tandem cyclization–cycloaddition reaction of carbenoids derived from α -diazo carbonyl compounds using rhodium(II) catalysts has been on the ascendancy and attracted the attention of many chemists for diverse synthetic applications and forms the subject matter of this report.^{12,13}

Historically, carbenoids derived from α -diazo carbonyl compounds using copper catalysts were mainly employed for cyclopropanation and C-H and X-H insertion reactions. The formation of carbonyl ylides (1,3-dipoles obtained through carbenoid insertion into a carbonyl group) under these conditions was not very efficient and efforts to trap them received only limited attention. The advent of rhodium-based¹⁴ catalysts for generating carbenoids from α -diazo carbonyl compounds was a turning point, however, as it provided efficient access to carbonyl ylides that could be trapped through 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition.^{15,16} It is the selectivity and preparative efficiency of the rhodium(II) mediated carbonyl ylide formation from α -diazo carbonyl compounds that has paved the way for many interesting synthetic applications through cascade processes.^{12,13} Many methods like thermolysis or photolysis of epoxides (**D**) having electron-withdrawing substituents, 1^{\prime} the thermal extrusion of nitrogen from 1,3,4-oxadiazolines (G),¹⁸ extrusion of carbon dioxide from 1,3-dioxolan-4ones $(\mathbf{F})^{19}$ and the photolysis of diazo carbonyl compounds in noble gas matrixes $(\mathbf{E})^{20}$ are known for the generation of carbonyl ylides (Fig. 1). The easiest route to carbonyl ylides, however, is through the addition of a metallo-carbenoid 12,13derived from a diazo precursor onto the oxygen atom of a carbonyl group (A) (Fig. 1). The carbonyl ylides (B) generated can be readily trapped inter- or intramolecularly with π -bonds via a range of 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reactions²¹ to afford oxygen-containing polycyclic systems (C), which are amenable to further diverse transformations. This aspect of carbonyl ylide chemistry, particularly when executed in an intramolecular mode, leading to complex oxacyclic systems, has gained importance because highly substituted oxacyclic moieties are conspicuous^{22,23} structural units in naturally occurring bioactive molecules like ionophores,²⁴ macrocyclic antibiotics²⁵ and a range of marine toxins.²⁶ In addition, complex oxapolycyclics can be



readily maneuvered to furnish carbocyclic compounds and carbonyl ylide cycloadditions have therefore found application in the synthesis of both heterocyclic and carbocyclic systems.

1.1. Scope and organization of the review

As indicated above, access to practical methods for generating carbonyl ylides has resulted in a plethora of activity directed towards the acquisition of complex heterocyclic frameworks and diverse natural products. The generation and trapping of an intramolecular carbonyl ylide methodology were initially demonstrated by Ibata and co-workers²⁷ and this has culminated in the development of a very versatile methodology for the construction of complex and highly functionalized organic compounds. This review will cover aspects related to the carbonyl ylides derived from the Rh(II)-catalyzed reactions of α -diazo carbonyl compounds and provide an overview of the existing literature with appropriate emphasis on recent examples. For convenient dissemination of the literature, the examples are schematically presented. The fertile area of cascade reactions emanating from carbonyl ylides has been reviewed in 1991¹² and updated¹³ in part in 1996 by Padwa, whose group has made pioneering contributions to the field. It is hoped that the present review covering the period of 1991 to mid-2002 will provide a useful reference for those active in this area and stimulate further efforts in this sphere which has much more potential for varied synthetic applications.

This report is organized on the basis of the intramolecular generation of carbonyl ylide intermediates of various ring sizes, namely five, six and seven-membered rings, and their synthetic applications are delineated in the respective sections. Each of these ring sizes is further sub-classified based on the nature of the carbonyl group, e.g. ketone, ester and amide, primarily involved in the generation of the carbonyl ylide intermediate from the rhodium(II) carbenoid precursor. In general, ketone and amide carbonyl groups are much more reactive towards the formation of carbonyl ylide than the ester carbonyl group. From the synthetic and mechanistic point of view, five- and six-membered intramolecular carbonyl ylide intermediates and their subsequent [3+2]-cycloaddition reactions have received greater attention. Only a very few examples of the formation of seven-membered ring carbonyl ylides have surfaced so far. In Section 5, the intermolecular generation of carbonyl ylides is discussed and these have not yet received as much attention as their intramolecular counterparts.

2. Intramolecular five-membered ring carbonyl ylides

When a diazo functionality located at the γ -position to a carbonyl group of a substrate is exposed to an appropriate transition metal catalyst, an intramolecular five-membered ring carbonyl ylide is formed as a transient species through transannular cyclization onto the neighboring keto carbonyl oxygen. The formation of less strained five-membered ring ylides is generally favored compared to other ring sizes.²⁸ The generation of intramolecular five-membered ring carbonyl ylide intermediates in the presence of metal



Scheme 1.





catalyst can be achieved with a variety of carbonyl-bearing precursors such as ketones, esters and amides. The successful trapping of such five-membered ring carbonyl ylides depends on the substrate structure and the absence of competition from alternative intramolecular reaction pathways. As an example, the rhodium(II)-catalyzed reaction of substituted α -diazo ketones 1 generates initially the rhodium-carbenoids 2, followed by the five-membered ring carbonyl ylides 3, which can be trapped regio- and stereoselectively using a dipolarophile A=B to form the oxabicyclic compounds 4 (Scheme 1). If R₁ is a hydrogen atom (see Scheme 1), the formation of the corresponding hydrogen migrated product 5 through an intramolecular proton transfer, which is faster than intermolecular 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition, is observed. From a synthetic perspective and to gain efficient access to the cycloaddition products 4, it is important that competitive reactions like proton transfer and C-H insertion are avoided through a proper choice of the substrate 1.

2.1. With keto carbonyl groups

Among the early examples of the successful generation and trapping of the five-membered ring carbonyl ylides emanating from the pioneering efforts of Padwa are the reactions of the readily accessible diazo carbonyl compounds **6** and **8** with rhodium(II) acetate [Rh₂(OAc)₄] in the presence of dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate (DMAD) to furnish the highly functionalized cycloadducts **7** and **9**, respectively (Scheme 2).²⁹

The reactions of the cyclopropyl-substituted carbonyl ylide 11 derived from the α -diazo ketone 10 with different dipolarophiles have been investigated by Padwa.³⁰ The compound 10 undergoes cycloaddition in the presence of $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ with dimethyl maleate, dimethyl fumarate, 1,1dimethoxyethylene and cyclopentene, furnishing the expected cycloadducts 12-15, respectively (Scheme 3).^{30b} The regiochemical outcome of the 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reactions of the cyclic five-membered ring carbonyl ylide 11, generated from the α -diazo ketone 10, with a variety of acyclic and cyclic alkenes having activated or inactivated π -bonds can be rationalized³⁰ on the basis of frontier molecular orbital considerations, with the HOMO and LUMO of the carbonyl ylides dominating the reactions with electron deficient and electron rich dipolarophiles, respectively.

The reactivity of the spirocyclic ylide 11 derived from the α -diazo ketone 10 with *p*-quinoneimides such as 16 has





Scheme 4.



Scheme 5.

energy (early transition state) in the cyclopropyl substrate or greater steric hindrance in the cyclopentyl-substituted system.

Muthusamy and co-workers have reported the reactions of the bicyclic ylide **21** generated from the diazo carbonyl compound **20** with dipolarophiles including DMAD, *N*-phenylmaleimide (NPM), propargyl bromide and methyl methacrylate,³² exposure of the cyclohexanone-substituted α -diazo carbonyl compound **20** to DMAD and NPM in the presence of Rh₂(OAc)₄ as the catalyst furnishing the cycloadducts **22** and **23**, respectively (Scheme 6). These cycloadditions were diastereoselective and, in the case of unsymmetrical dipolarophiles such as propargyl bromide and methyl methacrylate, they were regioselective and furnished **24** and **25**, respectively (Scheme 6).

The same research group has reported the 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of the bicyclic carbonyl ylide **21** derived from the diazo carbonyl compound **20** with further interesting substrates, namely indoles,³³ fulvenes³⁴ and norbornenes.³⁵ In these tandem cyclization–cycloaddition reactions involving indoles, fulvenes and norbornenes, four stereo-centers and two new C–C bonds are formed in a single step. Intermolecular cycloaddition of the fused five-membered ring cyclic carbonyl ylide **21** with indole, *N*-methylindole and *N*-benzylindole afforded the decahydrobenzo[*c*]carbazole **26** with a high regioselectivity (Scheme 7).³³ With an



Scheme 6.

been probed by Nair and co-workers to furnish the *endo*adduct **17** in a chemo- and stereoselective manner (Scheme 4).³¹

The reactions of the related cyclopentyl-substituted ylide **19** having reduced I-strain, derived from the α -diazo ketone **18**, with different dipolarophiles have also been investigated by Padwa.^{30b} As expected, the compound **18** undergoes cycloaddition in the presence of Rh₂(OAc)₄ with DMAD, dimethyl maleate and 1,1-dimethoxyethylene and furnished the expected cycloadducts. No cycloaddition was, however, observed between the spirocyclic ylide **19** and unactivated π -bonds (cyclopentene), indicating that the dipole **11** derived from the cyclopropyl-substituted diazo ketone **10** is clearly more reactive (Scheme 5).^{30b} This difference in reactivity could be attributed to either a lower activation

electron-withdrawing group on the indole nitrogen, however, regioisomeric decahydrobenzo[*a*]carbazoles are also obtained.

Similarly, the reaction of the carbonyl ylide **21** derived from the α -diazo carbonyl compound **20** with either symmetrical or unsymmetrical pentafulvenes **27** led to the novel



Scheme 7.



Scheme 8.

Not unexpectedly, an intramolecular variant of the fivemembered ring carbonyl ylide cycloaddition has also been explored.³⁶ When the specially crafted α -diazo ketoester **34** was decomposed in the presence of Rh₂(OAc)₄, an intramolecular cycloaddition product **35** was realized in good yield (Scheme 10). On the other hand, if DMAD was present in the reaction mixture, the bimolecular adduct **36** was isolated.

Investigations and stereoselective studies on the tandem rhodium(II)-catalyzed reactions of the carbonyl ylides **21** generated via the α -diazo carbonyl compound **20** with various carbonyl compounds like aromatic aldehydes, α , β -unsaturated aldehydes, furan-2-carboxaldehyde and 2,3,4,5-tetraphenylcyclopenta-2,4-dienone have also been studied to provide the corresponding dioxatricyclic ring systems **37–40** with high regio- and chemoselectivity (Scheme 11).³⁷

Ő



Scheme 9.



Scheme 10.

regioisomeric oxatetracyclo[$6.5.1.0^{1.6}.0^{9.13}$]tetradecene derivatives **28** and **29** (Scheme 8).³⁴ It is interesting to note that the regioisomer ratio (**28/29**) changed from 1:10 for the symmetrical fulvenes to 1:2 for the unsymmetrical fulvenes.

An efficient protocol for the synthesis of *syn*-facially bridged norbornane frameworks has been developed via the tandem cyclization–cycloaddition reactions of the carbonyl ylide **21** derived from the diazo ketone **20** with norbornene derivatives. The reaction of the diazo ketone **20** with the dipolarophiles **30** and **32** in the presence of Rh₂(OAc)₄ furnished³⁵ the *syn*-facially bridged norbornane frameworks **31** and **33**, respectively, in high yield (Scheme 9). For the norbornene derivative **32** having multiple C=C bonds, the 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition was regioselective.



Scheme 11.

The reaction of the spirocyclic ylide **11** derived from the diazo ketone **10** with 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds like *N*-substituted isatins has been studied and exclusively affords the oxygenated spiro-oxindoles **41** through regioselective addition on the C₃ carbonyl group (Scheme 12).³⁸



Scheme 12.

Carbonyl ylides engage α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds to furnish a mixture of cycloadducts through both C=C and C=O addition.³⁹ Examples have been reported where five membered ylides react with α,β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds regioselectively at the C=C bond.^{40,41} Chemoselectivity towards C=O cycloaddition can also be achieved, however, in specifically crafted α , β -unsaturated ketones such as arylidenetetralones, bis(arylmethylidene)ketones and bis(heteroarylmethylidene)ketones. The reaction of the bicyclic carbonyl ylide 21 generated from the α -diazo ketone 20 and arylidenetetralones 42 in the presence of Rh₂(OAc)₄, for example, led⁴² to the spirodioxa ring systems 43 with high regio- and chemoselectivity (Scheme 13). The product 43 is obtained as a diastereomeric mixture (2:3) and no C=C bond addition product was observed.



Scheme 13.

Another interesting example of C=O-selective carbonyl ylide cycloaddition is the rhodium(II)-mediated reaction of the α -diazo ketone **20** with the bis(phenylallylidene)cyclohexanone **44** to furnish the spiro-dioxa-bridged ring system **45** with complete regio- and chemoselectivity in good yield (Scheme 14).⁴³

Carbonyl ylides engage *p*-quinones, in a manner reminiscent of their reaction with α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds. Pirrung has reported⁴⁴ the 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of the five-membered ring carbonyl ylide **11** to *p*-quinones to provide ready access to complex oxafunctionalized networks in a single step through addition at both the C=O and C=C bonds, the reaction of the α -diazo carbonyl compound **10** with *p*-benzoquinone in the presence of Rh₂(OAc)₄ leading to a 1:1.7 mixture of the cycloadducts **46** and **47** in moderate yield (Scheme 15). Interestingly, the product ratios are solvent and catalyst-



Scheme 14.





dependent and have been optimized to favor the formation of either product.

Muthusamy and co-workers have employed the bicyclic ylide **50** derived from the α -diazo carbonyl compounds **48** via the rhodium carbenoids **49** in the presence of Rh₂(OAc)₄ as the catalyst to furnish complex oxapolycyclic systems.⁴⁵ The reaction of **48** with *p*-benzoquinone led to the novel oxa-bridged polycyclic systems **51–53** through stereoselective C=C and C=O bond addition (Scheme 16). The formation of **53** through tandem intramolecular cyclization–intermolecular cycloaddition and further addition of water and intramolecular Michael addition is quite interesting as four C–O bonds and one C–C bond are formed in a single step.

The intermolecular five-membered ring carbonyl ylide trapping strategy has proved to be remarkably effective in the synthesis of biologically active sesquiterpenoids including illudins, ptaquilosin, pterosins and acylfulvenes. The formation of the illudin skeleton could be readily conceptualized through a cycloaddition between the cyclopropyl-substituted carbonyl ylide **11** and the cyclopentenone derivatives as dipolarophiles. As an application of the tandem cyclization–cycloaddition methodology, (\pm)-Illudin M (**56**), a toxic sesquiterpene isolated⁴⁶ from the jack-o'-lantern mushroom, has been synthesized⁴⁷ by Kinder and co-workers via the spirocyclic carbonyl ylide **11** generated from the cyclopropyl-substituted α -diazo ketone **10**. Rh₂(OAc)₄-mediated decomposition of the α -diazo ketone **11** in the presence of cyclopentenone **54** afforded the key



Scheme 16.

cycloadduct **55** as a single diastereomer, bearing the complete skeleton of the natural product (Scheme 17). Functional group manipulations in the adduct **55** led to a total synthesis of (\pm) -illudin M (**56**).

An alternative tandem cyclization-cycloaddition approach⁴⁰ to (\pm)-illudin M (56) and the closely related isodehydroilludin 60 was executed by Padwa and co-workers employing an arylsulphonyl-substituted cyclopentenone 57 as the dipolarophile. The reaction of the α -diazo ketone 10 with 57 in the presence of Rh₂(OAc)₄ as the catalyst afforded a mixture of the *exo* and *endo*cycloadducts 58 in high yield (Scheme 18). The two diastereomers were elaborated to a common intermediate 59. 2,3-Dichloro-5,6-dicyano-1,4-benzoquinone mediated (DDQ) dehydrogenation of 59 gave the natural product isodehydroilludin 60 and the compound 61. As 61 has been previously converted to illudin M, a formal synthesis of this natural product was also accomplished.

Acylfulvenes represent a new class of potent antitumor compounds derived from the toxic sesquiterpene, illudin S. A synthesis of (\pm) -hydroxymethylacylfulvene (**64**, HMAF) and related analogues has been accomplished by McMorris and co-workers⁴¹ using tandem cyclization–cycloaddition methodology involving the cyclic five-membered ring carbonyl ylide **11**. The rhodium-mediated decomposition of the diazo ketone **10** in the presence of the acetal **62** led to



the cycloadduct **63**. Further manipulation of the functional groups including opening the oxygen bridge afforded (\pm) -hydroxymethylacylfulvene **64** (Scheme 19). The same research group⁴⁸ has also accomplished the total synthesis of two more acylfulvene analogs having promising anticancer activity using an adaptation of their tandem carbonyl ylide methodology. The cycloadduct **65** was obtained



Scheme 18.





Scheme 20.





diastereoselectively from the decomposition of the diazo compound **10** and cyclopentenone in the presence of $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ as the catalyst. The selective cleavage of the epoxy-bridge under alkaline conditions afforded **66** (Scheme 20). The functional group maneuvers in **66** furnished the acylfulvene analogs **67** and **68** in good yield, these compounds exhibiting impressive anticancer activity.

The carbonyl ylide cyclization-cycloaddition approach

described above has been further extended⁴⁹ towards a short synthesis of the pterosin family of sesquiterpenes bearing a hydrindane framework with a penta-substituted aromatic ring. The earlier classical approaches to the synthesis of pterosins relied on electrophilic substitution reactions for the construction of the penta-substituted aromatic ring, wherein the inherent problems of regioselectivity⁵⁰ were a limiting factor. The key concept in the synthesis of pterosins H (71a), I (71b) and Z (71c) was the carbonyl vlide-based stereoselective 1.3-dipolar cycloaddition reaction to rapidly deliver the functionalized hydrindane framework, followed by cyclopropane ring opening to install the ethyl side arm and concomitant aromatization. The rhodium(II)-catalyzed decomposition of the α -diazo ketone 10 in the presence of 5,5-dimethyl-2cyclopenten-1-one afforded the cycloadduct 69 in good yield (Scheme 21). A series of transformations on 69 involving Wittig olefination and oxa-bridge opening provided 70 which, on acid-catalyzed cyclopropyl ring opening, afforded the three members of the pterosin sesquiterpenoids 71a-c.

2.2. With ester carbonyl groups

Only a few examples of the formation of five-membered ring carbonyl ylides using ester carbonyl groups have been reported. The reaction of the diazo ester **72** under standard Rh(II)-catalyzed conditions results in the formation of the ylide **73** which undergoes smooth cycloaddition with a variety of dipolarophiles such as DMAD, maleic anhydride, *N*-phenylmaleimide and 1,1-diethoxyethylene to afford the corresponding cycloadducts.⁵¹ The adduct **74** being readily formed from **72** with maleic anhydride (Scheme 22). An intramolecular variation (**75** \rightarrow **76**) of the ester carbonyl-derived ylide has also been reported⁵¹ (Scheme 22).

The utility of the ester-derived five-membered ring carbonyl ylide has been demonstrated in the first total synthesis of the biologically active natural product, (\pm)-epoxysorbicillinol **80**,⁵² a novel vertinoid polyketide possessing an epoxide functionality. The rhodium(II)-catalyzed decomposition of the α -diazo ketone **77** in the presence of methyl propiolate furnished the diastereomerically pure oxabicycle **79** via the intermediate ylide **78** in excellent yield (Scheme 23). Following functional group manipulations, a synthesis of the natural product, (\pm)-epoxysorbicillinol **80**, was accomplished.





Scheme 23.



Scheme 24.



Scheme 25.

2.3. With amide carbonyl groups (isomünchnones)

The decomposition of suitably tailored diazoimides **81**, in the presence of a transition metal catalyst, affords the metallo-carbenoids **82** that undergo intramolecular cyclization onto the neighboring amide carbonyl oxygen to form the five-membered ring carbonyl ylides (isomünchnones) **83** (Scheme 24). Early examples of inter- and intramolecular 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of the mesoionic ylides **83** have mainly emanated from the research groups of Ibata,⁵³ Maier⁵⁴ and Padwa.⁵⁵ These reactive species (isomünchnones) can be trapped by various electron-rich and electrondeficient dipolarophiles⁵⁶ to give the cycloadducts in high yield. Much work has been reported in this area and for the clarity of presentation is described here under various subheadings.

2.3.1. Intermolecular isomünchnone cycloadditions. Initial studies on the rhodium(II)-catalyzed reactions of cyclic diazoimides were investigated in the presence of *N*-phenylmaleimide as a dipolarophile, to find out whether the initial rhodium-carbenoid prefers to form an isomünchnone or to undergo a competitive C–H insertion reaction.⁵⁷ Indeed, the diazoimide **84** initially formed the rhodium carbenoid **85**, which cyclized onto the adjacent imide carbonyl group to generate the isomünchnone **86**, which subsequently underwent intermolecular 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition with NPM to furnish **87**, without forming any C–H insertion product (Scheme 25). The regioselective cycloaddition reactions of isomünchnones with unsymmetrical dipolarophiles such as methyl vinyl ketone and diethyl ketene acetal have also been reported.^{55a}

Kappe and co-workers have studied the cycloaddition reactions of dihydropyrimidine-fused mesomeric betaines,⁵⁸ the reaction of the diazoimide **88** with $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ in the presence of NPM furnishing the cycloadduct **90** in high yield (Scheme 26). Surprisingly, the isomünchnone **89** precipitated from the reaction as a colorless solid when the same reaction was carried out in the absence of a dipolarophile. This carbonyl ylide dipole **89** proved to be remarkably stable and could even be recrystallized from methanol. The reactions of **88** proceed with a high degree of regioselectivity, facial selectivity and *exolendo* diastereoselectivity.

The diastereoselective cycloaddition of a variety of vinyl ethers with isomünchnones has been investigated by Austin and co-workers to explore the reactivity of various unsymmetrical, monoactivated alkenes.⁵⁹ The reaction of the α -diazoimides **91a,b** with ethyl vinyl ether in the presence of rhodium(II) perfluorobutyramidate



Scheme 26. (i) Rh₂(OAc)₄; (ii) N-phenylmaleimide.

G. Mehta, S. Muthusamy / Tetrahedron 58 (2002) 9477-9504



Scheme 27.

 $[Rh_2(pfbm)_4]$ as the catalyst afforded the cycloadducts **92a,b** as single diastereomers (Scheme 27). This reaction was generalized by carrying out the cycloaddition with other enol ethers.⁵⁹ Further, the reaction of the diazoimide **91a** with 2-methoxypropene, an *ipso*-substituted vinyl ether, was studied to evaluate whether the above-observed stereoselectivity was steric or electronic in nature. The observation of a 1:3 *exolendo* ratio of the diastereomers **93** and **94** from the reaction at a relatively high temperature (130°C) and a prolonged exposure (8 h) indicated a dramatic decrease in the reaction rate and indicated the existence of a large HOMO–LUMO gap that supported a steric contribution to the diastereoselectivity (Scheme 27).

As isomünchnone-based strategy has also been deployed by the same research group to gain access to a new class of 5-functionalized adenosines. Elaboration of the 5'-aminoadenosine **95** employing amine protection, amide formation with methyl malonyl chloride and the usual diazotransfer reaction led to the α -diazoimide **96**. The Rh₂(pfbm)₄-



Scheme 28. (i) (CH₃CO)₂O, pyridine; (ii) Rapoport's reagent; (iii) methyl malonyl chloride; (iv) MsN_3 , Et_3N ; (v) ethyl vinyl ether, $Rh_2(pfbm)_4$; (vi) TFA/H₂O 10:1; Pd/C, EtOH, NH_4CO_2H .



catalyzed reaction of the diazoimide **96** in the presence of ethyl vinyl ether yielded the *endo*-selective cycloadducts **97a** and **b** as a 1:1 mixture of diastereomers with the facial bias imposed by the chiral ribose moiety present in adenosine (Scheme 28).⁶⁰

The 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reactions of isomünchnone dipoles with buckministerfullerene C_{60} have been studied to furnish [3+2]-cycloadducts which, on thermolysis, regenerate the mesoionic heterocycle in an excellent yield. The reaction of, the diazoimide **98** with C_{60} in the presence of a rhodium(II) perfluorobutyrate [Rh₂(pfb)₄] catalyst afforded the cycloadduct **99** in moderate yield (Scheme 29).⁶¹ Further thermal activation of the cycloadduct **99** regenerated the isomünchnone **100**, which could be trapped with *N*-phenylmaleimide to give the adduct **101** in high yield (Scheme 29).

The reaction of isomünchnones with phosphaalkynes has been reported as a novel route to 1,3-oxaphospholes.⁶² The



Scheme 30.

isomünchnones **103** can be isolated in moderate yields when the diazo carbonyl compounds **102** are exposed to $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ as the catalyst. When the isomünchnones **103** are treated with the phosphaalkynes **104** in a pressure-Schlenk tube under 5 bar pressure, the 1,3-oxaphospholes **106** are obtained regiospecifically in very good yields (Scheme 30). The bicyclic intermediates **105** are presumably formed in the first step of this 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition process and apparently decompose immediately in a retro-Diels-Alder reaction to furnish the 1,3-oxaphospholes **106**. On consideration of the charge distribution in the isomünchnone system and the polarity of the P=C triple bond, the regiochemistry of this 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition is rather surprising and it is clear that this 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition does not proceed under charge control.

The synthesis of various functionalized furans has been described previously by the cycloaddition of isomünchnones to acetylenic dipolarophiles.⁶³ The intermolecular 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of isomünchnones with alkynes is typically followed by extrusion of an alkyl or aryl isocyanate (RN=C=O) moiety to give the substituted furans. In view of the interest in generating furan-based combinatorial libraries, a 'traceless' solid phase version of this reaction has been developed.⁶⁴ Towards this end, the amides 107 were obtained by the acylation of TentaGel[™]-NH₂ resin and treated with ethyl malonyl chloride to obtain the imides 108. Diazo transfer in 108 led to the diazoimides 109, which were decomposed with $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ as the catalyst in the presence of DMAD (Scheme 31). Under these reaction conditions, the transient cycloadducts underwent cycloreversion to eject the isocyanate-bound resin. The reactions with other substituted acetylenes afforded a series of substituted furans 110.

Another variation of the solid phase furan synthesis has surfaced simultaneously.⁶⁵ The Wang resin-protected diazo ester **111** on decomposition with $Rh_2(pfbm)_4$ in the presence of DMAD afforded the cycloadduct **112** (Scheme 32) and thermally-induced cycloreversion in **112** provided the furan **113** in >98% purity. This reaction of acetylenes with isomünchnones was presented as a general methodology for the combinatorial formation of a furan-based library.

An example of ligand-dependent site selectivity in the Rh(II)-catalyzed decomposition of a glycine-derived diazo-



Scheme 31.

acetamide has been reported by Padwa.⁶⁶ The results indicate that the reactivity of the transient rhodium carbenoid derived from the α -diazoimide is dependent on the electronic nature of the catalyst with the fluorinated ligands exhibiting a distinct preference for isomünchnone formation. Studies on π -facial diastereoselection in [3+2]-cycloadditions of several isomünchnone dipoles derived from substituted cyclic amides have also been carried out to define the stereochemical issues.⁶⁷ High levels of diastereoselectivities were encountered in these cycloadditions, leading to the *exo* products.

As an application of the intermolecular cycloaddition reaction of isomünchnone, a new synthetic route to 2-pyridones was successfully developed and extended to the synthesis⁶⁸ of the indolizidine alkaloid, (\pm) -ipalbidine **118**. The decomposition of the diazoimide **114** was effected using Rh₂(OAc)₄ as the atalyst in the presence of *cis*-1-(phenylsulfonyl)-1-propene **115** to afford the cycloadduct **116**. The cycloadduct **116** was not stable and readily underwent ring opening to 3-hydroxy-2(1*H*)-pyridone **117** (Scheme 33). Further elaboration of **117** involving Stille coupling with tributyl(4-methoxyphenyl)tin as the key step led to (\pm) -ipalbidine **118**.

2.3.1.1. Applications in asymmetric synthesis. Asymmetric versions of the intermolecular cycloaddition of isomünchnones, further enhancing the synthetic appeal of this cycloaddition protocol, have been developed. Austin and co-workers have reported^{69a} the optimization of a chiral



Scheme 32.



Scheme 33.

 $\begin{array}{c} Ph & O & N_2 & CH_3 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & O & \downarrow & N & CH_3 \\ H & & O & O & O \\ H & & 0 & O & O \\ 119 \end{array}$

Scheme 34.



127

Scheme 35.

Scheme 36.



Stereocontrolled [3+2]-cycloadditions using various amino acid-derived chiral isomünchnone dipoles provide access to the enantiopure cycloadducts.⁷⁰ Decomposition of the amino acid-derived diazoimide **121** with rhodium(II) perfluorobutyroamidate $[Rh_2(pfm)_4]$ in the presence of



NPM resulted in the formation of the cycloadducts **122** and **123** with nearly complete *exolendo* selectivity and high π -facial selectivity (Scheme 35).

Harwood and co-workers have devised novel chiral templates for isomünchnone cycloadditions,⁷¹ the chiral diazoimide **124** reacting with NPM in the presence of rhodium(II) acetate to furnish the isomünchnone-derived *endo*-adduct **125** (32%) and *exo*-adduct **126** (18%) (Scheme 36). Whereas the formation of the major *endo*-cycloadduct can be explained because of electronic factors, the minor *exo*-cycloadduct is a consequence of the steric hindrance of the C-5 phenyl substituent. The comparatively less flattened diazoimide **127** has also been prepared and subjected to rhodium(II)-catalyzed cycloaddition to DMAD to furnish *endo*-**128** (65%) with high diastereoselectivity and without any observation of *exo*-**129** (Scheme 37).⁷²

129,0%



128, 65%



Scheme 38. (i) *p*-Nitrobenzaldehyde, $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ or $Rh_2(tfa)_4$; (ii) H⁺, H₂O/THF; (iii) LiOH/H₂O₂/THF/H₂O.



Scheme 39.



Scheme 40.





Harwood's group has extended the use of the chiral α -diazoimide **130** to devise a synthesis of enantiopure α,β -dihydroxyacids.⁷³ Decomposition of the chiral diazoimide **130** in the presence of an achiral aldehyde like *p*-nitrobenzaldehyde employing rhodium(II) acetate or trifluoroacetate as the catalyst afforded the cycloadduct **131** (Scheme 38). These cycloadditions between various chiral diazoimide-derived isomünchnones and aldehydes proceed with high diastereofacial and *exo* selectivity. The observed regioselectivity is in accordance with the literature precedents.^{39,74} Access to α,β -dihydroxy acids such as **132** from the cycloadduct **131** was straightforward through the hydrolytic removal of the template (Scheme 38).

2.3.2. Intramolecular isomünchnone cycloadditions. The intramolecular variant of the 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reaction of the rhodium-generated isomünchnone constitutes a promising route⁵⁴ to many complex polycyclic structures as exemplified by the one-step formation of **133** from the diazoimides **134** in a stereoselective manner (Scheme 39).⁵⁵

A related diazoimide system **135** having an alkene tethered to the benzene backbone was exposed to $Rh_2(pfb)_4$ as the catalyst to furnish the diastereospecifically polyheterocyclic system **136** in excellent yield (Scheme 40).⁷⁵ The cycloaddition occurs *exo* with respect to the carbonyl ylide dipole and is in full agreement with the lowest energy transition state in both cases.

An intramolecular isomünchnone cycloaddition reaction of the acyclic diazoimide **137** incorporating an indole nucleus has been investigated. Decomposition of the diazoimide **137** in the presence of $Rh_2(pfb)_4$ as the catalyst led exclusively to **138** (Scheme 41).⁷⁶ Interestingly, the initially-formed cycloadduct readily underwent a ring-opening reaction followed by proton elimination to generate the enamide **138**.

Kappe and co-workers have extended their intermolecular isomünchnone cycloaddition reaction (see Scheme 26) to an intramolecular version to obtain the conformationally rigid polyheterocycles **141**, which mimic the putative receptorbound conformation of dihydropyrimidine-type calcium channel modulators.⁷⁷ The key step in the synthesis involves the regio- and diastereoselective intramolecular 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reaction of a dihydropyrimidine-fused isomünchnone dipole. The diazoimides **139** were readily prepared by *N*-malonyl acylation of the corresponding pyrimidones, followed by a standard diazotransfer and CBZ protection reactions. Decomposition of the CBZ-protected diazoimides **139** with a catalytic amount of Rh₂(OAc)₄ furnished the pentacyclic dihydropyrimidine systems **140** without the isolation of the initially-generated transient



Scheme 42. (i) Rh₂(OAc)₄; (ii) H₂, 10% Pd/C, rt, 1 atm.

isomünchnone dipoles (Scheme 42).⁷⁸ The removal of the CBZ group by the catalytic hydrogenation method provided the desired conformationally rigid dihydropyrimidine **141** in high yield.

The rhodium-catalyzed formation of carbonyl ylide intermediates from cyclic diazoamides provides tetracycles depending upon the substitution present in the tether. The diazoimide 142 with Rh₂(OAc)₄ gave the tetracyclic adduct 143 with complete diastereoselectivity (Scheme 43). But a similar substrate 144 having no carbonyl substituent present on the tether failed to undergo intramolecular cycloaddition to provide the corresponding adduct 145. It was found,⁷⁹ however, that 144 did undergo intermolecular cycloaddition with DMAD to the expected dipolar cycloadduct. The factors that influence the intramolecular cycloaddition and the substituent effect have been probed using ab initio transition state geometry optimizations. The calculations signify that a rigorous cross-ring 1,3-diaxial interaction caused by the bridgehead methyl group in 144 promotes a boat or twist-boat conformation in the piperidine ring fused to the newly-forming ring. Interestingly, the presence of a carbonyl group in the dipolarophile tether assists in the relief of steric hindrance.7

A number of approaches to complex alkaloids have been reported in which the intramolecular cycloaddition reactions of a transient isomünchnone dipole feature as the pivotal step for assembling the polycyclic frameworks. Intramolecular reactions of isomünchnone dipoles generated from a series of alkenyl and alkynyl-substituted diazoimides have been exploited to develop an approach to the quinoline ring system (rings C and D) of the ergot alkaloids (e.g. lysergic acid, 149). In one example, the Rh₂(pfb)₄-mediated tandem cyclization-cycloaddition sequence from the diazoimide 146 led to the cycloadduct 147 in very good yield (Scheme 44).⁸⁰ The polycyclic adduct 147 was readily elaborated to 148 en route to ergot alkaloids via BF3·OEt2-mediated ether bridge cleavage and a Barton-McCombie deoxygenation sequence (Scheme 44). Further attempts towards lysergic acid (149) were, however, thwarted due to the inability to isomerize the tetrasubstituted double bond in 148.

A formal synthesis of (\pm) -vallesamidine (153) has been achieved⁸¹ based on an intramolecular dipolar cycloaddition







Scheme 44.

reaction of isomünchnone. Following a study of a range of model subtrates, the reaction of the cyclic diazoimide **150** with $Rh_2(pfb)_4$ was carried out to obtain the desired cycloadduct **151** as a single diastereomer (Scheme 45). A series of functional group maneuvers on **151** afforded the enamide **152**, which can be readily elaborated to (\pm)-vallesamidine (**153**) using a known methodology.⁸²

Isomünchnones are known to undergo intramolecular dipolar cycloaddition reactions with tethered heteroaromatic rings,^{55b} the diazoimide **154** having a furan ring



Scheme 45.



Scheme 46.



Scheme 47.

in its tether undergoing a smooth intramolecular dipolar cycloaddition to produce the cycloadduct **155** in high yield (Scheme 46).⁸³

As an extension of the above methodology, the intramolecular cycloaddition of isomünchnone dipoles across an indole double bond has been investigated.^{55b} This reaction has been shown to provide a facile entry into the pentacyclic skeleton of the aspidosperma alkaloids.84 Towards this end, the α -diazoimide 156 was synthesized and subjected to Rh₂(OAc)₄ catalysis to obtain the cycloadduct 158 as a single diastereomer (Scheme 47). The endo cycloaddition of indole to the dipole 157 occurs exclusively from the side of the ethyl group away from the more sterically encumbered piperidone ring. The tandem cyclization-cycloaddition sequence is attractive as four stereocenters are formed in a single step with a high degree of stereocontrol and further functional group manipulations in the cycloadduct 158 afforded the pentacyclic skeleton of the aspidosperma ring system.

The potential use of the tandem carbenoid cyclizationcycloaddition-Mannich cyclization reaction of diazoimides



for the construction of polyheterocyclic ring systems has been demonstrated.^{85a} The construction of a more complex nitrogen heterocyclic system, particularly the B-ring homologues of the erythrinane family of alkaloids, can be easily achieved by incorporating an internal nucleophile on the tether. An interesting example of the sequential cycloaddition– π -cyclization process is shown with the diazoimide **159**, obtained from citronellic acid. The reaction of the diazoimide **159** with Rh₂(pfb)₄ generated the isomünchnone dipole, which underwent an intramolecular cycloaddition with the tethered alkene to give the cycloadduct **160** in good yield (Scheme 48).^{85b} Successive treatment of the cycloadduct **160** with BF₃·2AcOH furnished a 4:1 mixture of the tetracyclic lactams **162a,b** via the formation of the *N*-acyliminium ion **161**.

The tandem cycloaddition–cationic π -cyclization protocol has been extended to the formal synthesis of the alkaloid, (\pm) -lycopodine.⁸⁶ Following a study of various model substrates, the reaction of the α -diazoimide **163** with Rh₂(pfb)₄ provided the cycloadducts **164a** and **b** as a 3:2 mixture of the *endo*-diastereomers (Scheme 49). The cyclization of both **164a** and **b** using BF₃·2AcOH occurs regiospecifically to give **165**, tetracyclic product derived from *para* attack of the anisyl ring. The tetracyclic product **165** has been further evolved to **166**, an advanced intermediate in the synthesis of lycopodine.



9491

Scheme 49.





3. Intramolecular six-membered ring carbonyl ylides

When a substrate with a diazo functionality at the δ -position to the carbonyl group, e.g. **167**, is reacted with an appropriate transition metal catalyst, an intramolecular six-membered ring carbonyl ylide **168** is formed as a transient species through transannular cyclization onto the neighboring carbonyl oxygen. These transient species **168** readily engage a variety of dipolarophiles in inter- or intramolecular [3+2]-cycloadditions to furnish adducts like **169** (Scheme 50). In general, the six-membered ring carbonyl ylide intermediates **168** in the presence of a transition metal catalyst are generated from a variety of carbonyl-bearing precursors such as ketones, esters and amides. The reactions of ylides derived from each of these carbonyl precursors are discussed below.

3.1. With keto carbonyl groups

Initially, Ibata and co-workers demonstrated²⁷ the utility of the ylides derived from the transition metal-catalyzed decomposition of *o*-(alkoxycarbonyl)diazoacetophenones through cycloaddition to various dipolarophiles. Treatment of the diazoacetophenone **170** with Rh₂(OAc)₄, for example, generated the carbonyl ylide **171**, which was readily trapped by NPM and benzaldehyde to deliver the cycloadducts **172** and **173**, respectively (Scheme 51). Later, this ability of carbonyl ylides to engage aldehydic π -bonds has been exploited for the total synthesis of brevicomin.³⁹





A series of diazo carbonyl compounds have been prepared to investigate the chemoselectivity of rhodium carbenoids towards the competitive reactions such as intramolecular aromatic substitution and carbonyl ylide formation,⁸⁷ the decomposition of **174** using $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ as the catalyst in the presence of DMAD giving a mixture of the oxabicyclo-

octanone **175** (60%) and the 2-indanone **176** (20%) (Scheme 52). Electron-deficient ligands, such as $Rh_2(pfb)_4$, facilitate aromatic C–H insertion whereas donor ligands like rhodium(II) caprolactam $[Rh_2(cap)_4]$ preferentially give carbonyl ylide dipoles.



Scheme 52.

In a reactivity profile similar to that of the five-membered carbonyl ylides (see Section 2.1), Nair and co-workers have observed the reaction of the six-membered ring carbonyl ylide generated from the diazo ketone **177** with *p*-quinone-imides such as **16** to afford³¹ the bicyclic compound **178** in good yields (Scheme 53).



Scheme 53.

Novel C_{60} derivatives of the type **179** have been synthesized through 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reactions of sixmembered carbonyl ylides with [60]-fullerene.^{88a} The Rh(II)-catalyzed transformation of the diazo ketone **177** in the presence of C_{60} afforded the cycloadduct **179** (Scheme 54). The reaction has been further generalized.^{88b}





Chemoselective 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions of fused sixmembered ring carbonyl ylides with α , β -unsaturated carbonyl compounds have been reported.⁴² Treatment of the α -diazo ketone **180** with the arylidenetetralone **181** in the presence of Rh₂(OAc)₄ led to the spiro-dioxa ring system **182** through exclusive C=O addition in a manner







Scheme 56.



Scheme 57.



Scheme 58.



Scheme 59.

analogous to the five-membered ring carbonyl ylides (see Section 2.1) (Scheme 55).

The effect of two different carbonyl groups in the same molecule on ylide formation and subsequent 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition has been probed,⁸⁹ the Rh(II)-catalyzed decomposition of the symmetrical dibenzoyl system **183** giving the cycloadduct **185** (Scheme 56). The regiochemical outcome of the reaction is understandable on the basis of electronic and conformational factors. The decomposition of the unsymmetrical α -diazo ketone **184** afforded the cycloadduct **187** exclusively via cycloaddition of the sixmembered carbonyl ylide **186** across the benzoyl carbonyl π -bond (Scheme 56). The preference of the acetyl group in **184** to form the carbonyl ylide may be due to its enhanced nucleophilicity relative to the benzoyl group.

Symmetrical and unsymmetrical 1,2-diones exhibit diverse cycloaddition modes in reactions with carbonyl ylides to yield novel and highly oxygenated spiro compounds.⁹⁰ Typically, the six-membered ylide generated from the known diazo ketone **177** on reaction with N-phenylisatin afforded the spiro-oxindole derivative **188** (Scheme 57).³⁸ As anticipated, the ylide reacted exclusively with the more electrophilic carbonyl in the isatin and only the *endo*-adducts were formed in all cases. Similarly, the diazo ketone **177** furnished cycloadducts with substituted 1,2-benzo-quinones⁹¹ and acenaphthenequinone.^{90,91b}

Rhodium-generated bicyclic six-membered ring carbonyl ylides from the diazo ketone **180** with *p*-quinones have been studied to yield interesting oxapolycyclic compounds. In line with the five-membered ring carbonyl ylide reactions (see Section 2.1), the α -diazo carbonyl compound **180** furnished the corresponding carbonyl ylide dipoles, which undergo a facile 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition with *p*-benzo-quinone at C=C and C=O sites to furnish the oxa-bridged polycyclic systems **189–191** (Scheme 58).⁴⁵

The rhodium(II)-induced tandem cyclization–cycloaddition process involving six-membered ring carbonyl ylides has been exploited for the synthesis of diverse natural products. One of the early applications of six-membered ring carbonyl ylides in natural product synthesis emanated from the groups of Dauben⁹² and of McMills⁹³ and was targeted



towards the ring system of tigliane diterpenoids. Wender and co-workers have exploited the intramolecular carbonyl ylide cycloaddition strategy to access the phorbol skeleton.⁹⁴

A carbonyl ylide-based approach towards zaragozic acid A **198** (also known as squalestatins), a potent inhibitor of squalene synthase, has been reported.⁷⁴ The rhodium

G. Mehta, S. Muthusamy / Tetrahedron 58 (2002) 9477-9504



Scheme 60.



Scheme 61. (i) Methyl glyoxylate, Rh₂(OAc)₄; (ii) CDCl₃, 25°C.

Intramolecular cyclization–cycloaddition cascade reactions of rhodium carbenoids have been deployed to devise an approach towards the cytotoxic diterpenoids, pseudolaric acids **204**.⁹⁶ The enantiomerically pure diazo carbonyl compound **202** was assembled via multistep synthesis and its rhodium(II)-mediated decomposition afforded the diastereomeric oxatricyclic products **203a** and **b** (1.25:1) (Scheme 62).



Scheme 62.

carbenoid cycloaddition approach allows the rapid assemblage of the bicyclic core structure of zaragozic acid in a single step. The rhodium(II)-catalyzed reaction of the diazo ketone **192** in the presence of 1,2-bistrimethylsiloxyethene as a dipolarophile afforded the cycloadduct **193** (Scheme 59). Interestingly, the commonly-employed electron-deficient dipolarophiles such as methyl acrylate or methyl propiolate failed to trap the 1,3-dipole generated from **192**. The order of dipolarophile reactivity switches depending on the presence or absence of an extra carboxyl group on the dipole and can be easily accommodated by FMO theory.

In an alternate approach to the zaragozic acid system using the cycloaddition of six-membered ring carbonyl ylides, the reaction of the diazo diketoester **194** with glyoxalates in the presence of a catalytic amount of $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ was investigated to generate the 6,8-dioxabicyclo[3.2.1]octanes **195** and **196** in good yield (Scheme 60).⁹⁵ Elaboration of **196** provided the 2,8-dioxabicyclo[3.2.1]octane skeleton **197** of zaragozic acid A **198**.

Functionally embellished diazo diketoesters such as **199** also undergo highly regio- and diastereoselective cycloaddition with glyoxylates to give the cycloadduct **200** and, further, **201**, representing the bicyclic core of the zaragozic acids/squalestatins (Scheme 61).⁹⁵ In an approach towards guaianolide sesquiterpenes, their hydroazulenic framework has been constructed through a rhodium(II)-catalyzed reaction of the α -diazo ketone **205** with DMAD to afford the oxatricyclic system **206**, which forms the skeleton of ambrosic acid **207** (Scheme 63).³²

Hodgson and co-workers⁹⁷ have recently reported concise and stereoselective syntheses of *cis*-nemorensic acid (**211a**) and 4-hydroxy-*cis*-nemorensic acid (**211b**) via a tandem carbonyl ylide-cycloaddition protocol. The key step was the regioselective reaction of the carbonyl ylide **209** generated from the α -diazo ketone **208** with Rh₂(OAc)₄ in the



Scheme 63.



Scheme 64.

 α -diazo ketone **212** with a TMS-protected alkyne moiety was employed.

3.1.1. Applications in asymmetric synthesis. An enantioselective version of the tandem six-membered ring carbonyl ylide formation-intramolecular cycloaddition of α -diazo carbonyl compounds using chiral rhodium(II) carboxylates has been demonstrated by Hodgson and co-workers for the first time.⁹⁹ It had previously been shown¹⁰⁰ that α -diazo- β ketoesters **215** undergo intramolecular cycloaddition faster than intermolecular cycloaddition of the ylide with the highly reactive dipolarophile DMAD. The reaction of α -diazo- β -ketoesters **215** using 1 mol% of dirhodium(II) tetrakis[*N*-[(4-dodecylphenyl)sulphonyl]-(*S*)-prolinate], Rh₂(*S*-DOSP)₄, as catalyst gave the cycloadducts **217** via



Scheme 65.



Scheme 66.

presence of propargyl bromide to furnish the cycloadduct **210** in high yield (Scheme 64). Following a number of functional group manipulations on the cycloadduct **210**, a stereoselective synthesis of the nemorensic acids **211** was accomplished.

A short and elegant approach towards the cytotoxic alkaloid, colchicine (**214**), known for its remarkable antimitotic activity, has been reported by Schmalz and co-workers employing the intramolecular cyclization–cycloaddition cascade reactions of a carbonyl ylide.⁹⁸ Decomposition of the α -diazo ketone **212** in the presence of Rh₂(OAc)₄ furnished the cycloadduct **213** in good yield as a mixture of diastereomers (Scheme 65). In order to avoid possible participation of the relatively acidic alkynyl hydrogen atom in the undesired proton transfer, the

the six-membered carbonyl ylides **216** with enantioselectivites of up to 53% ee (Scheme 66). No specific rotation was, however, observed when the reaction was repeated using other catalysts such as $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ and $Rh_2(5R-MEPY)_4$.

The same research group has also demonstrated a successful catalytic enantioselective tandem carbonyl ylide formationcycloaddition of the α -diazo- β -keto ester **218** using 0.5 mol% dirhodium tetrakis(1,1'-binaphthyl-2,2'-diyl phosphate), Rh₂(*R*-DDBNP)₄ **219**, as catalyst to afford the cycloadduct **220** in good yields and up to 90% ee (Scheme 67).^{101a} A detailed study on enantioselective tandem carbonyl ylide formation-cycloaddition of diazo compounds **215** using a series of dirhodium tetrakiscarboxylate and tetrakisbinaphtholphosphate catalysts under different solvent conditions to afford the cycloadducts **217** has been



Scheme 67.



Scheme 68.

 $\begin{array}{c} Ph \underbrace{O}_{223} \\ Ph \underbrace{O}_{223} \\ Ph \underbrace{O}_{224} \\ DMAD \\ (2 equiv) \\ Rh_2(S-BPTV)_4 \\ Ph \underbrace{O}_{224} \\ Ph$

Scheme 69.



Scheme 70.

described.^{101b} These studies indicate that dirhodium tetrakisbinaphtholphosphate catalysts are superior to the more commonly-used carboxylates and carboxamidates in asymmetric transformations.

Hodgson and co-workers have further demonstrated¹⁰² that the reaction of α -aryl- α -diazodiones with aryl acetylenes in the presence of chiral rhodium catalysts provided cycloadducts with considerable enantioselectivity. Typically, the reaction of the nitrophenyl-substituted diazodione **221** and phenyl acetylene in the presence of the binaphthyl catalyst **219** at 0°C afforded the cycloadduct **222** with 76% ee (Scheme 68).

Another successful catalytic enantioselective approach based on the tandem carbonyl ylide formation-intermolecular cycloaddition of α -diazo carbonyl compounds using phthaloyl-derived chiral rhodium(II) catalysts has been demonstrated by Hashimoto and co-workers.¹⁰³ A sixmembered ring carbonyl ylide formation from the α -diazo ketone **223** and subsequent 1,3-cycloaddition with DMAD under the influence of 1 mol% of dirhodium(II) tetrakis[*N*benzene-fused-phthaloyl-(*S*)-phenylvaline], Rh₂(*S*-BPTV)₄,¹⁰⁴ has been explored to obtain the cycloadduct **224** in up to 92% ee (Scheme 69).

The important factor which could influence asymmetric induction, would be that cycloaddition is faster than catalyst decomplexation from the ylide. Although the precise mechanism remains unclear, the high levels of enantioselection in intermolecular cycloadditions with dipolarophiles provide definite support for the intermediacy of the chiral rhodium(II)-associated carbonyl ylide involved in the cycloaddition step. These examples indicate that metalcatalyzed dipole formation followed by cycloaddition has the potential to be a powerful method for asymmetric synthesis.

3.2. With ester carbonyl groups

The first examples of dramatic changes in stereoselectivity caused by the metal catalyst and Lewis acid in 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions of carbonyl ylides derived from ester carbonyl compounds with *N*-substituted maleimides have been reported.¹⁰⁵ The decomposition of *o*-(methoxycarbonyl)- α -diazoacetophenone **225** in the presence of NPM using a range of typical metal catalysts (5 mol%) for the decomposition of the diazo compound afforded **226** and **227** as the *exo* and *endo* cycloadducts, respectively (Scheme 70). Surprisingly, when metal catalysts having Lewis acidity such as CuOTf (*endo/exo*=87:13) and Cu(OTf)₂ (*endo/exo*=82:18) were used, highly *endo*-selective 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition occurred which is not usually observed in the carbonyl ylide cycloadditions. A high *endo* selectivity



(endo/exo=94:6) was observed by adding 5 mol% of Yb(OTf)₃ under 5 mol% of CuCl-catalyzed conditions. On the other hand, the reaction involving the use of Rh₂(OAc)₄ showed the highest *exo* selectivity (*exo/endo*=11:89). The results indicate that the Lewis acid presumably controls the stereoselectivity in the 1:3-dipolar cycloaddition of carbonyl ylides by coordination to dipolarophiles, as reported¹⁰⁶ for the reactions of nitrones.

A highly efficient alternative construction of the 2,8bicyclo[3.2.1]octane core structure of zaragozic acids (squalestatins) **198** has been achieved by Hashimoto and co-workers exploiting the sequence of rhodium(II)mediated intramolecular carbonyl ylide formation from an α -diazo ester and stereocontrolled 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition with (*E*)-3-hexene-2,5-dione.¹⁰⁷ Towards this end, the fully functionalized α -diazo ester **228** was reacted with Rh₂(OAc)₄ in the presence of (*E*)-3-hexene-2,5-dione to afford the cycloadduct **230** via the intermediate **229** as a single diastereomer out of the four possible diasteromers (Scheme 71).

An intramolecular version of these reactions has also been reported. The generation of six-membered carbonyl ylides using ester carbonyl groups and their intramolecular trapping using acetylenic dipolarophile has been well documented in the synthesis of novel annulated benzo-tropolones¹⁰⁸ and successfully applied to the synthesis of tropolone natural products. Exposure of the α -diazo ketone **231** to Rh₂(OAc)₄ resulted in the formation of a reactive metal-carbenoid intermediate which underwent intramolecular carbonyl ylide **232** formation and subsequent 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition to give the tetracyclic compound **233** (Scheme 72).¹⁰⁹ Acid-catalysed ring opening in **233** yielded the tricyclic tropolone **234** with the methylene acetal still in place.





The six-membered ring carbonyl ylides formed using ester carbonyl groups followed by intramolecular trapping have provided facile entry into highly functionalized polycyclic systems,¹¹⁰ the decomposition of the diazo ketone **235** in the presence of the Rh(II) catalyst affording the cycloadduct **236** (Scheme 73).

A series of α -diazo- β -(*o*-carbomethoxy)-substituted aryl ketones were prepared and employed as model systems for a





synthetic approach towards the alkaloid, ribasine (240).¹¹¹ This intramolecular cyclization–cycloaddition sequence has been extended as a model route to an alkaloid. The six-membered ring carbonyl ylide dipoles 238 were generated from the *o*-allyl-substituted diazo ketoester 237 and Rh₂(OAc)₄ to access the cycloadduct 239 (Scheme 74). This result constitutes a promising model study towards the synthesis of the alkaloid, ribasine (240).



Scheme 74.

3.2.1. Applications in asymmetric synthesis. Hashimoto and co-workers have shown that the enantioselective 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of the ester-derived carbonyl ylides can be achieved using chiral dirhodium(II) carboxylates. The ester-derived carbonyl ylide from the α -diazo ketone **241** in the presence (1 mol%) of dirhodium(II) tetrakis[*N*-phthaloyl-(*S*)-*tert*-leucinate] (Rh₂(*S*-PTTL)₄) as the catalyst afforded the cycloadduct **242** with 93% ee (Scheme 75).¹¹²





It has been reported that Lewis acids such as $Yb(OTf)_3$ can profoundly affect the stereochemical outcome of the carbonyl ylide cycloadditions.¹¹³ This provided a clue to effect asymmetric carbonyl ylide cycloaddition using a chiral Lewis acid. The first example of asymmetric induction using the chiral lanthanide catalyst, ytterbium tris(*S*)-1,1'-binaphthyl-2,2'-diyl phosphonate (Yb[(*S*)-BNP]₃) **245**, for cycloaddition of carbonyl ylides has been reported. The reaction of diazoacetophenone **243** with

benzyloxyacetaldehyde furnished the cycloadducts **244a** and **b** with moderate enantioselectivity (Scheme 76).





3.3. With amide carbonyl groups

The formation of a six-membered cyclic carbonyl ylide with amide functional groups leads to the interconversion of one dipole **247** into another **248**. Less attention, however, has been given to this type of interconversion and not many examples of cycloaddition have been reported (cf. iso-munchnones in Section 2.3). This type of interconversion has been termed as 'dipole cascade' and involves three distinct classes of 1,3-dipoles.¹¹⁴ The cascade can be initiated by a Rh₂(OAc)₄-catalyzed cyclization of an α -diazo ketone such as **246** onto a neighboring carbonyl group to generate a carbonyl ylide dipole **247** which



undergoes a proton shift to the azomethine ylide **248** (Scheme 77). The corresponding cycloadducts **249** and **250** were obtained in the presence of DMAD. The initially-formed cycloadduct **250** undergoes a subsequent alkoxy 1,3-shift to generate the tricyclic dihydropyrrolizine ring system **251**.

4. Intramolecular seven-membered ring carbonyl ylides

4.1. With keto carbonyl groups

Relatively little research effort has been reported with seven-membered ring carbonyl ylides.^{29b,115} In one example, the decomposition of compounds having a tethered diazo carbonyl functionality on the cycloalkanone ring systems **252** in the presence of $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ provided the seven-membered carbonyl ylides **253**. The generation of **253** was demonstrated by trapping experiments using dipolarophiles like DMAD and NPM to provide the cyclooctanoid systems **254** and **255**, respectively (Scheme 78). Similarly, the tetralone-derived diazo







Scheme 79.

carbonyl compound 256 furnished the epoxy-bridged cyclooctanoid ring system 257 in the presence of *N*-phenylmaleimide.

The reaction of a seven-membered ring carbonyl ylide generated by the Rh(II)-catalyzed reaction of 1-diazo-6-phenyl-2,6-hexadione **258** was studied with *N*-methyl-isatin.³⁸ The reaction afforded a cycloadduct **259** in 32% yield along with **260** (8%) resulting from the Büchner reaction of benzene and the carbenoid (Scheme 79).

4.2. With amide carbonyl groups

A range of cyclic diazo ketoamides have been studied to generate seven-membered carbonyl ylides. The Rh(II)-catalyzed reaction of the amido diazo ketoester **261** was found to cleanly afford the rearranged indolizidone **264** via the intermediates **262** and **263** (Scheme 80).¹¹⁶



Scheme 80.

Seven-membered ring carbonyl ylides derived from phthalimides can also participate in these tandem cyclization– cycloaddition reactions, the Rh₂(OAc)₄-catalyzed reaction of 1-diazo-4-phthalimidobutanone (**265**) proceeding quite smoothly with DMAD and NPM.¹¹⁶ When *N*-phenylmaleimide was used as the trapping agent, the cycloadduct **266** (45%) was obtained as the major product (Scheme 81), along with **267**.



5. Intermolecular carbonyl ylides

There are only a limited number of examples of the formation of ylides through intermolecular reactions between diazo ester compounds and aldehydes or ketones in the presence of transition metal catalysts. These transient species undergo electrocyclization to oxiranes or 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition with dipolarophiles. The latter process has been utilized for the synthesis of heterocycles.^{13,17g,117} The Rh₂(pfb)₄-catalysed decomposition of the α -diazo ester **268** in the presence of benzaldehyde, for example, generated the carbonyl ylide **269**, which was trapped with dimethyl maleate to furnish the tetrahydrofuran **270** in moderate yield (Scheme 82).¹¹⁸



Scheme 82.

Another example leading to substituted oxygen heterocycles is from the diazo ester **271** which forms an intermolecular carbonyl ylide **272** in the presence of aldehydes.¹¹⁹ This reactive carbonyl ylide intermediate **272** has been trapped with DMAD and NPM to afford the substituted dihydro-furans **273** and **274**, respectively (Scheme 83). The intramolecular version of this reaction was also investigated in the presence of aldehydes having an alkynyl group, the reaction of equimolar quantities of **271** and the aldehydes **275** in the presence of Rh₂(oct)₄ as the catalyst furnishing the annulated furans **276** in moderate yields (Scheme 83).

The reactive carbonyl ylides, generated in an intermolecular manner, have also been trapped by carbonyl compounds,



Scheme 83.

either in an intermolecular process to produce dioxolanes¹²⁰ or in an intramolecular 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition to produce¹²¹ 1,3-dioxoles. The unsaturated α -diazo- α -(trimethylsilyl)acetate (**277**) with 2 equiv. of acetaldehyde under the catalytic action of Rh₂(pfb)₄ was found to produce the 1,3-dioxolane **278** in good yield (Scheme 84).¹²²



Scheme 84.

Early investigations by Huisgen and De March¹²⁰ showed that the reaction of dimethyl diazomalonate with benzaldehyde in the presence of $Cu(acac)_2$ or $Rh_2(OAc)_4$ or Cu(OTf)₂ furnished two major dioxolane stereoisomers. Treatment of a composite of *p*-anisaldehyde and a catalytic amount of Rh₂(OAc)₄ with ethyl diazoacetate resulted in the formation of two carbonyl ylide cycloaddition products, identified as 279 and 280, out of the four possible diastereomers in <15% yield (Scheme 85).¹²³ Higher conversions were achieved with catalysis by dirhodium(II) caprolactamate, $Rh_2(cap)_4$ (52%), but the same ratio of 279/ **280** did not change from 52:48. With *p*-nitrobenzaldehyde, all four isomers were obtained with different ratios of products based on the catalyst variations. This strong influence of the catalyst on the product selectivity is unprecedented in carbonyl ylide chemistry⁹⁰ and requires association with the ylide during cycloaddition. The results obtained for the catalyst-derived carbonyl ylide formation show that there is a dual pathway to the cycloaddition products. Stereoelectronic factors control 'free' ylide formation and stereoselectivity for cycloaddition is controlled by steric effects.



Scheme 85.

6. Concluding remarks

As can be gleaned from the forgoing examples, interest in the explorations with carbonyl ylides is widespread and on the ascendancy. The possibilities of rapid generation of molecular complexity and diversity with good stereo- and regiocontrol make this rhodium-mediated tandem cyclization-cycloaddition approach an economical, effective and efficient synthetic strategy. This protocol is particularly relevant in the context of the enormous current interest of the pharmaceutical industry in rapidly accessing diverse, small molecule libraries with high levels of functionalization. Indeed, carbonyl ylide-based strategies can be very valuable in this quest. Recent research efforts in the area leading to the crafting of new and selective rhodium-based catalysts and the development of solid phase versions and asymmetric variants has substantially amplified the appeal and scope of this carbonyl ylide based tandem cyclizationcycloaddition strategy. While concise and stereoselective syntheses of many complex natural products, particularly terpenoids and alkaloids, have been accomplished, there are many more targets where the carbonyl ylide-based strategy can be effectively harnessed. Many exciting prospects. particularly with regard to the development of a general, catalytic, asymmetric version of this reaction, are in store and such challenges are going to sustain the ongoing interest in the carbonyl ylide-based tandem cyclization-cycloaddition chemistry.

Acknowledgements

S. M. thanks the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research and the Department of Science and Technology, New Delhi for their financial support for our research work on tandem reactions.

References

- 1. Ho, T. L. *Tandem Organic Reactions*; Wiley: New York, 1992.
- Waldmann, H. Domino Reaction in Organic Synthesis Highlight II; VCH: Weinheim, 1995; pp 193–202.
- 3. Wender, P. A.; Eds.; Chem. Rev. 1996, Vol. 96, 1-600.
- 4. Tietze, L. F.; Beifuss, U. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 131-163.
- Curran, D. P. *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*; Trost, B. M., Fleming, I., Eds.; Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; Vol. 4, pp 779–831.
- 6. Motherwell, W. B.; Crich, D. Free Radical Reactions in Organic Synthesis; Academic: London, 1991.
- (a) Posner, G. H.; Asirvatham, E.; Hamil, T. G.; Webb, K. S. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 2132–2137, and references cited therein. (b) Posner, G. H. Chem. Rev. 1986, 86, 831–844.
 (c) Moore, H. W.; Decker, O. H. W. Chem. Rev. 1986, 86, 821–830. (d) Bunce, R. A.; Wamsley, E. J.; Pierce, J. D.; Shellhammer, A. J.; Drumright, R. E. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 464–466. (e) Danishefsky, S.; Harrison, P.; Silvestri, M.; Segmuller, B. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 1319–1321.
- Collman, J. P.; Hegedus, L. S.; Norton, J. R.; Finke, R. G. *Principles and Applications of Organotransition Metal Chemistry*; University Science Books: Mill Valley, CA, 1987.
- (a) Trost, B. M. Acc. Chem. Res. 1990, 23, 34–42. (b) Trost,
 B. M.; Shi, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 12491–12509.
- 10. van der Baan, J. L.; van der Heide, T. A. J; van der Louw, J.; van der Klumpp, G. W. *Synlett* **1995**, 1–12.
- Snider, B. B.; Vo, N. H.; Foxman, B. M. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 7228–7237, and references cited therein.
- 12. Padwa, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 1991, 24, 22-28.
- (a) Padwa, A.; Weingarten, M. D. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 223-269. (b) Padwa, A. Top. Curr. Chem. 1997, 189, 121-158.

- Paulissen, R.; Reimlinger, H.; Hayez, A.; Hubert, A. J.; Teyssié, P. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1973**, 2233–2236.
- Doyle, M. P.; McKervey, M. A.; Ye, T. Modern Catalytic Methods for Organic Synthesis with Diazo Compounds. From Cyclopropanes to Ylides; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1998.
- (a) Ye, T.; McKervey, A. *Chem. Rev.* 1994, 94, 1091–1160.
 (b) Padwa, A.; Hornbuckle, S. H. *Chem. Rev.* 1991, 91, 263–309. (c) Maas, G. *Top. Curr. Chem.* 1987, 137, 75–253.
 (d) Doyle, M. P. *Chem. Rev.* 1986, 86, 919–939. (e) Doyle, M. P. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 1986, 19, 348–356.
- (a) Ruf, S. G.; Bergstrasser, U.; Regitz, M. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 2219–2225. (b) Bhattacharyya, K.; Das, P. K. Res. Chem. Intermed. 1999, 25, 645–665. (c) Kotera, M.; Ishii, K.; Hiraga, M.; Sakamoto, M. Heterocycles 1999, 51, 2147–2158. (d) Matsumoto, K.; Taketsuna, H.; Ikemi, Y.; Kakehi, A.; Uchida, T.; Otani, S. Heterocycles 1998, 49, 79–84. (e) Das, P. K.; Griffin, G. W. J. Photochem. 1984, 27, 317–325. (f) Griffin, G. W.; Padwa, A. Photochemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds; Buchart, O., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1976; Chapter 2. (g) Huisgen, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1977, 16, 572–585.
- (a) Merkley, N.; El-Saidi, M.; Warkentin, J. *Can. J. Chem.* 2000, 78, 356–361. (b) Couture, P.; Warkentin, J. *Can. J. Chem. J. Chem.* 1997, 75, 1264–1280. (c) Couture, P.; El-Saidi, M.; Warkentin, J. *Can. J. Chem.* 1997, 75, 326–332. (d) Sharma, P. K.; Warkentin, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1995, 36, 7591–7594. (e) Bekhazi, M.; Smith, P. J.; Warkentin, J. *Can. J. Chem.* 1984, 62, 1646–1652.
- (a) Keus, D.; Kaminski, M.; Warkentin, J. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 343–347. (b) Bèkhazi, M.; Warkentin, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 1289–1292.
- 20. Tomioka, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1998, 71, 1501-1524.
- 21. *1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Chemistry*; Padwa, A., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1984; Vols. 1 and 2.
- For general reviews see: (a) Boivin, T. L. B. *Tetrahedron* **1987**, *43*, 3309–3362. (b) Lipshutz, B. H. *Chem. Rev.* **1986**, *86*, 795–819. (c) Bartlett, P. A. *Asymmetric Synthesis*; Morrison, J. D., Ed.; Academic: New York, 1984; Vol. 3. Chapter 6. (d) Semple, J. E.; Joullie, M. M. *Heterocycles* **1980**, *14*, 1825–1870.
- For examples of stereoselective tetrahydrofuran syntheses, see: (a) Hopkins, M. H.; Overman, L. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 4748–4749. (b) Noda, I.; Horita, K.; Oikawa, Y.; Yonemitsu, O. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986, 1917–1920. (c) Dolle, R. E.; Nicolaou, K. C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 1016–1018. (d) Schreiber, S. L.; Sammakia, T.; Hulin, B.; Schulte, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2106–2108.
- (a) Westly, J. W. Polyether Antibiotics: Naturally Occurring Acid Ionophores; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1982; Vols. 1 and 2. (b) Kishi, Y. Heterocycles 1980, 14, 1477–1495. (c) Kishi, Y. Aldrichimica Acta 1980, 13, 23–30.
- (a) Lin, Y. Y.; Risk, M.; Ray, S. M.; Engen, D. V.; Clardy, J.; Golik, J.; James, J. C.; Nakanishi, K. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1981**, *103*, 6773–6775. (b) Shimizu, Y.; Chou, H. N.; Bando, H.; Duyne, G. V.; Clardy, J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1986**, *108*, 514–515.
- Moore, R. E. Marine Natural Products: Chemical and Biological Perspectives; Scheuer, P. J., Ed.; Acedemic: New York, 1978; Vol. 1.
- (a) Ibata, T. Chem. Lett. 1976, 233–234. (b) Ibata, T.; Motoyama, T.; Hamaguchi, M. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn 1976,

49, 2298–2301. (c) Ibata, T.; Toyoda, J. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn* **1986**, *59*, 2489–2494, and references cited therein.

- Liebman, J. F.; Greenberg, A. Chem. Rev. 1976, 76, 311–365.
- (a) Padwa, A.; Chinn, R. L.; Hornbuckle, S. F.; Zhi, L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, 301–304. (b) Padwa, A.; Chinn, R. L.; Hornbuckle, S. F.; Zhang, Z. J. *J. Org. Chem.* **1991**, *56*, 3271–3278.
- (a) Padwa, A.; Sandanayaka, V. P.; Curtis, E. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2667–2668. (b) Padwa, A.; Curtis, E. A.; Sandanayaka, V. P. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 73–81.
- Nair, V.; Rajesh, C.; Dhanya, R.; Vinod, A. U. *Tetrahedron* Lett. 2001, 42, 2045–2046.
- Muthusamy, S.; Babu, S. A.; Gunanathan, C.; Suresh, E.; Dastidar, P.; Jasra, R. V. *Tetrahedron* 2000, 56, 6307–6318.
- Muthusamy, S.; Gunanathan, C.; Babu, S. A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42, 523–526.
- Muthusamy, S.; Babu, S. A.; Gunanathan, C.; Suresh, E.; Dastidar, P. *Synlett* 2001, 1407–1410.
- Muthusamy, S.; Babu, S. A.; Gunanathan, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 5981–5984.
- Padwa, A.; Zhang, Z. J.; Zhi, L. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 5223–5232.
- Muthusamy, S.; Babu, S. A.; Gunanathan, C.; Ganguly, B.; Suresh, E.; Dastidar, P. J. Org. Chem. 2002, in press.
- Nair, V.; Sheela, K. C.; Sethumadhavan, D.; Bindu, S.; Rath, N. R.; Eigendorf, G. K. *Synlett* 2001, 272–274.
- Padwa, A.; Fryxell, G. E.; Zhi, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 3100-3109.
- Padwa, A.; Curtis, E. A.; Sandanayaka, V. P. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 1317–1325.
- 41. McMorris, T. C.; Hu, Y.; Yu, J.; Kelner, M. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. **1997**, 315–316.
- Muthusamy, S.; Babu, S. A.; Gunanathan, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 8839–8842.
- Muthusamy, S.; Babu, S. A.; Gunanathan, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 3931–3934.
- 44. Pirrung, M. C.; Kaliappan, K. P. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 353-355.
- Muthusamy, S.; Babu, S. A.; Gunanathan, C.; Suresh, E.; Dastidar, P.; Jasra, R. V. *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57*, 7009–7019.
- 46. (a) Nakanishi, K.; Tada, M.; Yamada, Y.; Ohashi, M.; Komatsu, N.; Terakawa, H. *Nature* **1963**, *197*, 292.
 (b) French, A. L.; Garrettson, L. K. *Clin. Toxicol.* **1988**, *26*, 81.
- Kinder, Jr. F. R.; Bair, K. W. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 6965–6967.
- McMorris, T. C.; Yu, J.; Hu, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 3015–3018.
- Curtis, E. A.; Sandanayaka, V. P.; Padwa, A. *Tetrahedron* Lett. **1995**, *36*, 1989–1992.
- (a) Woodward, R. B.; Hoye, T. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 8007–8014. (b) Ng, K. M. E.; McMorris, T. C. Can. J. Chem. 1984, 62, 1945–1953. (c) Neeson, S. J.; Stevenson, P. J. Tetrahedron 1989, 45, 6239–6248.
- Curtis, E. A.; Worsencroft, K. J.; Padwa, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1997, 38, 3319–3322.
- Wood, J. L.; Thompson, B. D.; Yusuff, N.; Pflum, D. A.; Matthäus, M. S. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 2097–2098.
- (a) Hamaguchi, M.; Ibata, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1974, 4475–4476.
 (b) Hamaguchi, M.; Ibata, T. *Chem. Lett.* 1975, 499–502.
- 54. (a) Maier, M. E.; Evertz, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1988,

1677-1680. (b) Maier, M. E.; Schöffling, B. Chem. Ber. **1989**, *122*, 1081-1088.

- (a) Padwa, A.; Hertzog, D. L.; Chinn, R. L. *Tetrahedron* 1993, 49, 2589–2600. (b) Hertzog, D. L.; Austin, D. J.; Nadler, W. R.; Padwa, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1992, 33, 4731–4734.
- Osterhaut, M. H.; Nadler, W. R.; Padwa, A. Synthesis 1994, 123–141.
- Doyle, M. P.; Pieters, R. J.; Tauton, J.; Pho, H. Q.; Padwa, A.; Hertzog, D. L.; Precedo, L. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 820–829.
- Kappe, C. O.; Peters, K.; Peters, E.-M. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 3109–3118.
- Savinov, S. N.; Austin, D. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1999, 1813–1814.
- 60. Liu, F.; Austin, D. J. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 2273-2276.
- González, R.; Knight, B. W.; Wudl, F.; Semones, M. A.; Padwa, A. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 7949–7951.
- Ruf, S. F.; Bergsträßer, U.; Regitz, M. *Tetrahedron* 2000, 56, 63–70.
- 63. Ibata, T.; Hamaguchi, M.; Kiyohara, H. Chem. Lett. 1975, 21–24.
- Gowravaram, M. R.; Gallop, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 40, 6973–6976.
- Whitehouse, D. L.; Nelson, Jr. K. H.; Savinov, S. N.; Austin, D. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *41*, 7139–7142.
- 66. (a) Prein, M.; Padwa, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1996, 37, 6981–6984. (b) Prein, M.; Manley, P. J.; Padwa, A. *Tetrahedron* 1997, 53, 7777–7794.
- 67. Padwa, A.; Prein, M. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 6842-6854.
- 68. Sheehan, S. M.; Padwa, A. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 438-439.
- 69. (a) Savinov, S. N.; Austin, D. J. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1415–1418. (b) Savinov, S. N.; Austin, D. J. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1419–1422.
- 70. Padwa, A.; Prein, M. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 6957-6976.
- Angell, R.; Drew, M. G. B.; Fengler-Veith, M.; Finch, H.; Harwood, L. M.; Jahans, A. W.; Tucker, T. T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 3107–3110.
- 72. Angell, R.; Fengler-Veith, M.; Finch, H.; Harwood, L. M.; Tucker, T. T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 4517–4520.
- Drew, M. G. B.; Fengler-Veith, M.; Harwood, L. M.; Jahans, A. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 4521–4524.
- Koyama, H.; Ball, R. G.; Berger, G. D. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1994, *35*, 9185–9188.
- Padwa, A.; Austin, D. J.; Price, A. T.; Weingarten, M. D. *Tetrahedron* 1996, 52, 3247–3260.
- Padwa, A.; Hertzog, D. L.; Nadler, W. R.; Osterhout, M. H.; Price, A. T. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 1418–1427.
- Rovnyak, G. C.; Kimball, S. D.; Beyer, B.; Cucinotta, G.; DiMarco, J. D.; Gougoutas, J.; Hedberg, A.; Malley, M.; McCarthy, J. P.; Zhang, R.; Moreland, S. *J. Med. Chem.* 1995, 38, 119–129.
- Jauk, B.; Belaj, F.; Kappe, C. O. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1999, 307–314.
- Weingarten, M. D.; Prein, M.; Price, A. T.; Snyder, J. P.; Padwa, A. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 2001–2010.
- Marino, Jr. J. P.; Osterhout, M. H.; Padwa, A. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 2704–2713.
- (a) Padwa, A.; Harring, S. R.; Semones, M. A. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 44–54. (b) Padwa, A.; Semones, M. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 335–338.
- 82. (a) Dickman, D. A.; Heathcock, C. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc.

1989, *111*, 1528–1530. (b) Heathcock, C. H.; Norman, M. H.; Dickman, D. A. J. Org. Chem. **1990**, *55*, 798–816.

- Padwa, A.; Hertzog, D. L.; Nadler, W. R. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 7072–7084.
- 84. (a) Padwa, A.; Price, A. T. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 6258–6259. (b) Padwa, A.; Price, A. T. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 556–565.
- 85. (a) Padwa, A.; Brodney, M. A.; Marino, Jr. J. P.; Osterhout, M. H.; Price, A. T. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 67–77.
 (b) Brodney, M. A.; Padwa, A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 556–565.
- Padwa, A.; Brodney, M. A.; Marino, Jr. J. P.; Sheehan, S. M. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 78–87.
- Cox, G. G.; Moody, C. J.; Austin, D. J.; Padwa, A. Tetrahedron 1993, 49, 5109–5126.
- (a) Nair, V.; Sethumadhavan, D.; Sheela, K. C.; Eigendorf, G. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, *40*, 5087–5090. (b) Nair, V.; Sethumadhavan, D.; Sheela, K. C.; Nair, S. M.; Eigendorf, G. K. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 3009–3013.
- Padwa, A.; Austin, D. J.; Hornbuckle, S. F. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 63–72.
- Nair, V.; Sheela, K. C.; Radhakrishnan, K. V.; Vinod, A. U.; Nair, J. S.; Rajesh, C.; Treesa, P. M. *J. Heterocycl. Chem.* 2000, *37*, 659–668.
- (a) Nair, V.; Sheela, K. C.; Radhakrishnan, K. V.; Rath, N. P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 5627–5630. (b) Nair, V.; Sheela, K. C.; Sethumadhavan, D.; Dhanya, R.; Rath, N. P. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 4171–4177.
- Dauben, W. G.; Dinges, J.; Smith, T. C. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 7635–7637.
- McMills, M. C.; Zhuang, L.; Wright, D. L.; Watt, W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1994, 35, 8311–8314.
- Wender, P. A.; Kogen, H.; Lee, H. Y.; Munger, J. D. J.; Wilhelm, R. S.; Williams, P. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 8957–8958.
- Hodgson, D. M.; Bailey, J. M.; Villalonga-Barber, C.; Drew, M. G. B.; Harrison, T. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 2000, 3432–3443.
- 96. Chiu, P.; Chen, B.; Cheng, K. F. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 1721–1724.
- Hodgson, D. M.; Avery, T. D.; Donohue, A. C. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 1809–1811.
- Graening, T.; Friedrichsen, W.; Lex, J.; Schmalz, H.-G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2002, 41, 1524–1525.
- Hodgson, D. M.; Stupple, P. A.; Johnstone, C. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 6471–6472.
- 100. Padwa, A.; Hornbuckle, S. F.; Fryxell, G. E.; Zhang, Z. J. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 5747–5757.
- 101. (a) Hodgson, D. M.; Stupple, P. A.; Johnstone, C. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1999, 2185–2186. (b) Hodgson, D. M.; Stupple, P. A.; Pierard, F. Y. T. M.; Labande, A. H.; Johnstone, C. Chem. Eur. J. 2001, 7, 4465–4476.
- 102. Hodgson, D. M.; Glen, R.; Redgrave, A. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43, 3927–3930.
- 103. Kitagaki, S.; Anada, M.; Kataoka, O.; Matsuno, K.; Umeda, C.; Watanabe, N.; Hashimoto, S.-I. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 1417–1418.
- 104. Hashimoto, S.-I.; Watanabe, N.; Sato, T.; Shiro, M.; Ikegami, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 5109–5112.
- 105. Suga, H.; Ishida, H.; Ibata, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1998, 39, 3165–3166.
- 106. (a) Kanemasa, S.; Uemura, T.; Wada, E. Tetrahedron Lett.

1992, *33*, 7889–7892. (b) Gothelf, K. V.; Thomsen, I.; Jorgensen, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1996**, *118*, 59–64.

- 107. Kataoka, O.; Kitagaki, S.; Watanabe, N.; Kobayashi, J.; Nakamura, S.; Shiro, M.; Hashimoto, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1998, 39, 2371–2374.
- 108. Friedrichsen, W.; Plug, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 7509–7510.
- 109. Baldwin, J. E.; Mayweg, A. V. W.; Neumann, K.; Pritchard, G. J. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1933–1935.
- 110. Plüg, C.; Friedrichsen, W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1996, 1035–1040.
- 111. Padwa, A.; Precedo, L.; Semones, M. A. J. Org. Chem. **1999**, 64, 4079–4088.
- 112. Kitagaki, S.; Yasugahira, M.; Anada, M.; Nakajima, M.; Hashimoto, S. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 5931–5935.
- 113. Suga, H.; Kakehi, A.; Ito, S.; Inoue, K.; Ishida, H.; Ibata, T. *Org. Lett.* **2000**, *2*, 3145–3148.
- 114. (a) Padwa, A.; Dean, D. C.; Zhi, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 593–601. (b) Padwa, A.; Dean, D. C.; Zhi, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 6451–6452.

- 115. Muthusamy, S.; Babu, S. A.; Gunanathan, C.; Suresh, E.; Dastidar, P. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn* **2001**, *75*, 801–811.
- 116. Padwa, A.; Hasegawa, T.; Liu, B.; Zhang, Z. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 7124–7133.
- 117. (a) Doyle, M. P. *Chem. Rev.* **1986**, *86*, 919–939. (b) Doyle, M. P.; Forbes, D. C.; Xavier, K. R. *Russ. Chem. Bull.* **1998**, *47*, 932. (c) Hamaguchi, M.; Matsubara, H.; Nagai, T. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 1457–1460.
- 118. Alt, M.; Mass, G. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 7435-7444.
- 119. Johnson, T.; Cheshire, D. R.; Stocks, M. J.; Thurston, V. T. *Synlett* **2001**, 646–648.
- 120. De March, P.; Huisgen, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 4952.
- 121. (a) Alonso, M. E.; Chitty, A. W. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1981, 22, 4181–4184. (b) Alonso, M. E.; Garcia, M. D.; Chitty, A. W. *J. Org. Chem.* 1985, *50*, 3445–3449.
- 122. Alt, M.; Maas, G. Chem. Ber. 1994, 127, 1537-1542.
- Doyle, M. P.; Forbes, D. C.; Protopopova, M. N.; Stanley, S. A.; Vasbinder, M. M.; Xavier, K. R. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7210–7215.

Biographical sketch



Goverdhan Mehta was born in Jodhpur, India and has held faculty positions at the Indian Institute of Technology, Kanpur and the University of Hyderabad. Currently, he is a Professor of Organic Chemistry at the Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore. Professor Mehta's current research interest encompass the total synthesis of natural products, design of aesthetically pleasing molecular entities, probing stereoselectronic control of diastereoselectivity and photodynamic therapy of cancer.



Sengodagounder Muthusamy was born in Salem, India. He received both his MSc and PhD degrees from the University of Madras. He has been the recipient of an Alexander von Humboldt fellowship (1993–1995) for his postdoctoral work on the synthesis of dioxiranes with Professor W. Sander at Ruhr University, Bochum, Germany. After his postdoctoral position, he was a CSIR senior research associate and worked in the area of photodynamic therapy of cancer at the University of Hyderabad with Professor G. Mehta. He moved as a Scientist in 1997 to this present address. He has been a recipient of a CSIR young scientist award in Chemical Sciences. His current research interests include the development of new tandem processes, transition metal-catalyzed reactions and the development of stereoselective reactions in organic synthesis.